IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

ELLIS GRISBY

APPELLANT

VS.

NO. 2008-KA-01915-COA

5-COA
APPELLEE

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

STEPHEN NICK, Attorney for the appellant

MSB # 3851 POST OFFICE BOX 1195 247 MAIN STREET GREENVILLE,MISSISSIPPI

38702-1195

662-332-7111 662-335-8879, facsimile

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES.

TARLE OF AUTHORITIES.

•Ţ

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

The undersigned counsel of record hereby certifies that the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this Appeal. These representations are submitted that the Judges of the Court may evaluate possible disqualifications or recusal.

Ellis Grisby, appellant.

Dewayne Richardson, District Attorney.

Respectfully submitted, this the day of January, 2010.

Stephen Nick, counsel for the appellant, Ellis Grisby

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Hester v. State, Miss 1999 753 So. 2d 463.

Hood v. State, 155 So. 679, 680.

Mickell v. State, 735 So. 2d 1031 1999.

Bester v. State, 55 So. 2d 379.

Holmes v. State, 4 So. 2d 540.

Montgomery v. State, 37 So. 835, 836, 837 1905.

Sanders v. State, 586 So. 2d 792, 796. 1991.

Jackson v. Virginia, 443 U.S. 307, 319 (1979).

U.S. v. Garza 118 F. 3d (5th Cir. 1997)

U.S. v. Flores-Chapa 48 F.3d 156 (5th Cir. 1995)

U.S. V Onick, 889 F.2d 1425, (5th Cir. 1989).

Clark v. Procunier 755 F.2d 394 (5th Cir. 1985)

Cosby v. Jones 682 F.2d 1373 (11th Cir. 1982)

Section 97-1-7 of Mississippi Code of 1972 as amended.

Section 97-3-79 of Mississippi Code of 1972 as amended.

Section 99-11-3 (1) of Mississippi Code of 1972 as amended.

Section 99-17-35 of the Mississippi Code of 1972 as amended.

Black's Law Dictionary, Revised Fourth Edition.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

ISSUE:

The trial court committed reversible error when the court denied the appellant's motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict of the jury or in the alternative a new trial wherein the appellant requested a new trial because the prosecution failed to prove venue/jurisdiction pursuant to section 99-11-3 (1) of the Mississippi Code of 1972 as amended.

ISSUE:

The trial court committed reversible error when the court read instruction, D-7, out of sequence to the trial jury subsequent to the reading of the other instructions and closing arguments.

ISSUE:

The trial court committed reversible error when the court denied the appellant's motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict of the jury or in the alternative a new trial. The appellant requested a directed verdict of not guilty or in the alternative a new trial; the appellant asserts the prosecution failed to prove the charge beyond a reasonable doubt.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The State of Mississippi indicted Ellis Grisby and Joby Pam for attempted armed robbery, (97-1-7) & (97-3-79).

The defendants were tried together and Joby Pam was found not guilty. Ellis Grisby was found guilty.

The circuit Court sentence Ellis Grisby to a sentence of 13 years with eight years to serve and 5 years of probation.

Ellis Grisby, by and through counsel, appeals said conviction and sentence.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The appellant submits that the prosecution failed to prove venue/jurisdiction, pursuant to section 99-11-3-(1) of the Mississippi Code of 1972. The trial court improperly instructed the trial jury when the court recalled the jury from deliberations after she was informed by counsel that she neglected to read instruction (D-7) to the jury at the time the other instructions were read to the jury. The appellant contends this was reversible error.

The appellant submits that the trial judge should have set aside the jury's finding of guilt inasmuch as the jury found the co-defendant not guilty after the jury was improperly instructed. Further, the evidence of the charge was of similar weight and character as presented against both defendants. Thus, if Pam was not guilty, then, the appellant contends that he should have been found not guilty. If the evidence was insufficient as same applied to Pam, then, the evidence was insufficient as to the guilt of Grisby.

ISSUE:

The trial court committed reversible error when the court denied the appellant's motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict of the jury or in the alternative a new trial wherein the appellant requested a new trial because the prosecution failed to prove venue/jurisdiction pursuant to section 99-11-3 (1) of the Missispii Code of 1972 as amended.

Section 99-11-3 (1) provides as follows:

(1) The local jurisdiction of all offenses, unless otherwise provided by law, shall be the county where committed.

On July 16, 2008, Howard Sanders testified at trial he resides at 614 North Morgan Street; Hollandale, Mississippi. (p.29 TR)

Howard Sanders testified the incident occurred on August 1, 2005. Mr. Sanders did not specifically identify the location of the alleged crime by county and state. On July 16, 2008, he testified the incident happened as he entered the rear door of his house. He does not testify as to the location of his house on the day of the alleged crime. (p.30 TR) The prosecution attempted to establish an inference that the two locations are one and the same. The appellant submits that an inference is not proof beyon reasonable doubt as the law requires.

This Court stated in <u>Hester v. State</u>, (Miss 1999) 753 So. 2d 463 the following:

Venue is an essential part of a criminal prosecution and the State bears the burden of proving venue beyond a reasonable doubt.

Although the ultimate burden of proving venue that rests upon the state is beyond a reasonable doubt, this is a standard of proof before the jury, not the trial judge. The appellant submits that Howard Sanders did not provide sufficient information for the jury to accept as proven the location of the alleged crime. The appellant does not admit the location of the alleged crime, thus, the facts are not available to make an inference that satisfies the statutory obligation belonging to the state to prove the county of the offense.

The term, inference, is defined in Black's Law Dictionary, Revised Fourth Edition, page 917, 198.

INFERENCE. In the law of evidence. A truth or proposition drawn from another which is supposed or admitted to be true. A process of reasoning by which a fact or proposition sought to be established is deduced as a logical consequence from other facts, or a state of facts, already proved or admitted.

Whitehouse v. Bolster, 95 Me. 458, 50 A. 240;

Joske v. Irvine, 91 Tex. 574, 44 S.W.1059.

A deduction which the reason of the jury makes from the facts proved, without an express direction of law to that effect. Puget Sound Electric Ry. v. Benson, C.C.A. Wash., 253 F. 710, 714.

A "presumption" and an "inference" are not the same thing, a presumption being a deduction which the law requires a trier of facts to make, an inference being a deduction which the trier may or may not make, according to his own conclusions; a presumption is mandatory, an inference permissible. Cross v. Passumpsic Fiber Leather Co. 90 Vt. 397, 98 A. 1010, 1014; Joyce v. Missouri & Kansas Telephone Co., Mo. App. 211 S.W. 900, 901.

This Court stated in Hood v. State, 155 So. 679, 680, the following:

"Where a presumption or inference is one of fact merely, the court is not warranted in declaring it to the jury as a presumption authoritatively raised by law.

The appellant submits that an inference is not proof beyond a reasonable doubt. Further, this court cannot declare that venue/jurisdiction was proved to the jury. Consequently, the prosecution failed to establish venue/jurisdiction beyond a reasonable doubt, thus, the conviction should be reversed and remanded to the lower court for further proceedings.

ISSUE:

The trial court committed reversible error when the court read instruction, D-7, out of sequence to the trial jury subsequent to the reading of the other instructions and closing arguments.

Counsel for defendant, Joby Pam, advised the court that instruction, D-7, was not read to the trial jury when the other instructions were given. The trial judge acknowledging error recalled the jury from deliberations read the forgotten instruction and returned the panel to continue their deliberations. (p. 483 TR)

The discussion of instruction, D-7, can be found in pages, (443-446 TR). Instructions other than D-7 and closing arguments can be found in pages, (447-482 TR).

Defendant, Grisby, submits that the trial judge's mistake; reading instruction, D-7, out of sequence was reversible error. Joby Pam was acquited and Ellis Grisby was found guilty, notwithstanding, the evidence presented in court against the two defendants was of the same character and weight. Grisby asserts that instruction, D-7, constituted an instruction in the nature of a directed verdict as to Joby Pam. Further the timing of the reading of the instruction was a negative influence on the jury as same relates to the deliberations of the charge against Ellis Grisby. It is obvious to this writer that the court's mistake highlighted the evidence against Ellis Grisby, solely.

The instruction's reference to Ellis Grisby appears as nothing more than an afterthought. The instruction standing alone instructed the jury to find Joby Pam not guilty. It would be unwise to argue that the instruction applied to Grisby equally. The entire body of the instruction and the tenor of the instruction applies to Joby Pam. It must be understood and considered that the

instructions had been given, closing arguments had been heard and deliberations had begun in the minds of the jury. The sequence of the court's reading of the instruction must have been curious to the trial jury. The trial jury was recalled and given instruction, D-7, standing alone. The timing of the instruction surely resonated with the jury as a directed verdict of not guilty for Joby Pam. Further, the focus of attention of the jury shifted to Ellis Grisby. Consequently, the focus of deliberations shifted to Ellis Grisby the result a verdict of guilty.

Section 99-17-35 of the Mississippi Code of 1972 as amended provides:

The judge in any criminal cause, shall not sum up or comment on the testimony, or charge the jury as to the weight of evidence; but at the request of either party he shall instruct the jury upon the principles of law applicable to the case. All instructions asked by either party must be in writing, and all alterations or modifications of instructions given by the court or refused shall be in writing, and those given may be taken out by the jury on its retirement.

In Mickell v. State, 735 So.2d 1031 (1999) the court stated:

In an armed robbery prosecution, trial court impermissibly commented on testimony and weight of evidence by simply answering, "yes" to the jury's question whether it could "convict a person of armed robbery without the policeman finding the gun or a gun" as answer served to minimize significance that no gun had been found by police, which was issue central to case.

In <u>Bester v. State</u>, 55 So. 2d 379 the court stated:

An instruction in criminal prosecution which is on weight of evidence or which singles out and gives undue prominence to certain portions of evidence is erroneous. In Holmes v. State, 4 So. 2d 540, the court stated:

Instructions must be taken as a whole as one body, and announce, not the law for the plaintiff or the defendant, but the law of the case.

In <u>Sanders v. State</u>, 586 So.2d 792, 796 (1991) the court stated.

As ageneral proposition, the trial judge should not give undue prominence to particular portions of the evidence in the instructions.

This prophylatic rule has the salutory purpose of protecting the jury from their natural inclination to put great weight in the judge's statements. To that end, this Court has held that instructions which emphasize any particular part of the testimony in such a manner as to amount to a comment on the weight of that evidence are improper.

It is also well established that instructions should not single out or contain comments on specific evidence.

In Montgomery v. State, 37 So. 835, 836, 837 (1905) the court stated.

We feel sure, however, that the correct practice, under our system, is for the court to pass on all instructions asked on both sides before the argument to the jury begins. This rule should not be deviated from except on rare and emergent occasions in the discretion of the court, and even then with opportunity to the other side to prepare and request any counter charge applicable to its view of the facts; otherwise great injustice might occur to the defendant in favor of the party with the closing argument.

In <u>Hood v. State</u>, 155 So. 679, 680 (1934) the court stated:

The rule is general that a party has the right to have the jury instructed as to any definitely applicable principle of the substantive law; but this rule is subject to the limitation that no instruction shall be given in such manner as that it shall be a charge upon the weight of the evidence, save as those classes of instructions hereafter to be mentioned. It is an established rule in this jurisdiction that although an instruction is correct as a legal proposition, it shall not single out for prominent presentation to the jury certain portions of the testimony, and, by thus drawing the special attention of the jury thereto, give an undue emphasis to the portions so specifically mentioned, unless the portions so singled out are so completely sufficient within themselves that ultimate issue may be determined solely upon them if found to be true.

ISSUE:

The trial court committed reversible error when the court denied the appellant's motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict of the jury or in the alternative a new trial. The appellant requested a directed verdict of not guilty or in the alternative a new trial; the appellant asserts the prosecution failed to prove the charge beyond a reasonable doubt.

The jury verdict and the judgment of conviction is against the overwhelming weight of the evidence in this cause and is insufficient as a matter of law to establish guilt beyond a reasonable doubt.

The review standard of sufficiency of the evidence is whether viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the prosecution, a rational trier of fact could have found the elements beyond a reasonable doubt. Jackson v. Virginia, 443 U.S. 307, 319 (1979). To the same effect is judgment for acquittal. <u>U.S. v. Garza</u>, 118 F.3d (5th Cir. 1997); <u>U.S. v.Flores-Chapa</u>, 48 F.3d 156 (5th Cir. 1995).

In order to convict the defendant of the charge of attempted armed robbery as stated in the indictment the prosecution must prove the defendant, Ellis Grisby, and the defendant, Joby Pam, each acting in concert with the other, on or about 1st Day of August, 2005, in Washington County, did unlawfully, wilfully and feloniously make an assault upon Howard R. Sanders and, they, the said Ellis Grisby, and Joby Pam did then and there by the exhibition of a deadly weapon, to-wit: a hand gun, unlawfully, wilfully and feloniously put Howard R. Sanders in fear of immediate injury to his/her person, and did unlawfully, willfully attempted to violently take, steal and carry away the property of Howard R. Sanders, having a total and aggregate value of more than one dollar from the presence or from the person and against the will of said Howard R. Sanders.

The jury found Joby Pam not guilty and Ellis Grisby guilty, p. 197 of the Clerk's papers.

Ellis Grisby submits that the empirical evidence in this case argues that he is not guilty. The character and the weight of the evidence was essentially the same as applied to the defendants, yet, the jury found Pam not guilty and Grisby guilty.

Howard Sanders in direct testimony tesfied that he was robbed by two people, one was about five-eight in height and the other was five-four or five-five in height. He did not see their faces and could not identify the individuals who he says committed this crime. (p. 33 TR)

During cross-examination by Pam's counsel, (p. 46TR), Howard Sanders testified the shorter person was wearing a greenish-type shirt, T-shirt. Yet, the shirt taken from the home of Grisby was never identified as the shirt allegedly worn by the perpetrator.

During direct testimony, Howard Sanders testified that he noticed no other characteristics other than height about the perpetrators other than their height except the shorter one discharged his weapon in the house.

(p.33,34 TR)

David Whitehead, a forensic scientist with the Mississippi Crime
Laboratory in Jackson, Mississippi testified that he tested two gunshot
residue evidence collection kits; one coming from Ellis Grisby and one
coming from Joby Pam. Both kits were negative for the presence of gunshot
residue. (p. 248-252, TR)

The prosecution offered the testimony of three young people; Jake Winder, Jr., Alfred Seals, and Ken Vallery. (P. 97-181 TR)

These young people testified they were playing football outside

Ken Vallery's house on the day of the incident involving Howard Sanders.

This house was near was near the house belonging to Howzard Sanders,

(Exhibit 1) They testified that they saw Joby Pam and Ellis Grisby,

together, immediately before the gunshot was heard.

It is inconceivable that if Joby Pam is not guilty and Ellis Grisby is guilty; one would have to believe that Grisby separated from Pam and was with someone else who fit Pam's description and then committed the robbery. An explanation can be found with the manner the jury was instructed.

It is impossible to separate the proposition that the evidence was insufficient to find Pam not guilty, yet Grisby guilty beyond a reasonable doubt.

In the case <u>U.S.vOnick</u>, 889 F.2d 1425, 2428 (5th Cir. 1989).

"If a reasonable jury would doubt whether the evidence proves an essential element, we must reverse."

In the case Clark v. Procunier, 755 F.2d 394, 396 (5th Cir. 1985).

"If the evidence viewed in the light most favorable to the prosecuiton gives equal or nearly equal circumstantial support to a theory of guilt and a theory of innocence of of the crime charged, then, a erasonable jury must necessairly entertain a reasonable doubt."

In the case Cosby v. Jones 682 F.2d 1373, 1379 (11th Cir. 1982).

[&]quot;The standard for weighing the constitutional sufficiency of the evidence is set forth in Jackson v. Virginia."

[&]quot;The applicant is entitled to habea corpus relief if it is found upon the record evidence adduced at the trial no rational trier of fact could have found proof of guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. 443 US at 324, 99S.Ct. at 2791."

[&]quot;we are to "view the evidence in the light most favorable to the prosecution," and, "all of the evidence is to be considered." standard Ulster, supra, 442 US at 166, 99 S.Ct. at 2229."

"How much stringent is uncertain, but it is at least clear that if the reviewing court is convinced by the evidence only that the defendant is more likely than not guilty, then the evidence is not sufficient for conviction."

CONCLUSION

The appellant submits the jury was not properly instructed. It was error to instruct the jury (D-7) out of sequence. Thus, the conviction of Ellis Grisby should be reversed.

The contradiction evidenced by the jury's inconsistent verdicts is to troubling to let the conviction of Ellis Grisby stand, thus, his conviction should be reversed.