IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

ELLIS GRISBY

APPELLANT

VS.

NO. 2008-KA-1915-COA

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: LA DONNA C. HOLLAND

SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

MISSISSIPPI BAR NO.

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- I. THE STATE PROVED VENUE BEYOND A REASONABLE DOUBT.
- II. NO REVERSIBLE ERROR OCCURRED BY READING INSTRUCTION D-7 OUT OF SEQUENCE TO THE JURY.
- III. THE STATE PROVIDED LEGALLY SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE TO SUPPORT THE JURY'S VERDICT. THE VERDICT IS NOT AGAINST THE WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On August 1, 2005, Howard Sanders arrived home to find that his burglar alarm had been triggered. T. 30. Sanders entered the rear door of his home and attempted to turn off the alarm when he was pushed from behind. T. 30. Sanders turned to see two men with covered faces. T. 30. The taller perpetrator placed a gun in Sanders' face, while the shorter perpetrator who was wearing a green shirt, held a gun to the side of Sanders' head. T. 33, 46. Sanders was ordered to turn the alarm off, but he refused. T. 32. Sanders' telephone rang, and he warned the intruders that the police would be arriving momentarily. T. 32. The man in the green shirt then fired his gun, T. 34.

Sanders fell in his bedroom doorway pretending to be shot. T. 34. The men fled the house, and Sanders answered the phone call from the alarm monitoring company and advised them to contact the police. T. 34. Sanders ran outside to see what direction the intruders ran. T. 35. He saw a group of boys across the street from his house and asked them if they saw anything. T. 35. The boys informed Sanders that after hearing the shot, they saw a man known as "Peanut" running out of Sanders's house and through the gate behind his house. T. 35. The boys also advised that they had seen Peanut, who was wearing a green shirt, and a guy in a red shirt walking toward Sanders' home just prior to the attempted armed robbery. T. 102-103, 127-128, 131, 154, 166. Peanut was later identified as Ellis Grisby. T. 110-111, 137, 155. The green shirt described by the victim and group of boys was later found less than two hours after the attempted armed robbery in Grisby's home.

A Washington County Circuit Court found Grisby guilty of attempted armed robbery. He was sentenced to thirteen years with eight to serve. C.P. 216. His co-defendant Joby Pam was found not guilty.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Venue was established through the victim's testimony. The victim unequivocally testified that the home in which the attempted armed robbery occurred was in Washington County, Mississippi.

Grisby cannot claim error for the first time on appeal regarding an instruction to which he raised no objection at trial. Alternatively, to the extent that Grisby jointly offered the instruction in question, a party who offers an instruction at trial cannot claim on appeal that it was erroneously granted. Grisby cites no authority for the proposition that reading an instruction out of sequence amounts to an improper comment on the evidence.

The State proved each element of the crime charged beyond a reasonable doubt. The fact that

Grisby's co-defendant was found not guilty is of no consequence to Grisby's claim that the evidence was legally insufficient to support his own verdict. The State's evidence against Grisby was much stronger than that against Pam.

ARGUMENT

I. THE STATE PROVED VENUE BEYOND A REASONABLE DOUBT.

Proper venue lies in the county in which the crime is committed. Miss. Code Ann. §99-11-3. Venue is a jurisdictional requirement and must be proven by the State beyond a reasonable doubt. *McBride v. State*, 934 So.2d 1033, 1035 (¶10) (Miss. Ct. App. 2006). Venue may be proven by either direct or circumstantial evidence. *Id.* "Where there is sufficient evidence to lead a reasonable trier of fact to conclude that part or all of the crime occurred in the county where the case is being tried, then evidence of venue is sufficient." *Id.* (citing *Hill v. State*, 797 So.2d 914, 916 (¶12) (Miss. 2001).

As the victim of the attempted armed robbery, there is no question that Sanders was an eyewitness to the attempted armed robbery which occurred in his home. Sanders unequivocally stated on the record that his home at 614 North Morgan Street in Hollandale was located in Washington County in the State of Mississippi. T. 29. Sanders then went on to describe the attempted armed robbery which occurred in his home. T. 30-34. Grisby claims on appeal that the State did not prove that the 614 North Morgan Street home and the location of Sanders' house on the day of the attempted armed robbery was one in the same. The record belies the appellant's claim. During his direct examination, Sanders was shown Exhibit 1, a diagram of North Morgan Street and North Simmons Street, which depicted the location of Sanders' home. T. 38-39. The State published this diagram to the jury while questioning Sanders about the attempted armed robbery in his home. T. 39-43. During this questioning, Sanders again clarified that his home from which the

perpetrators fled is located at 614 Morgan Street. T. 41. Additionally, Hollandale Police Department Officer Travis Robinson testified as follows regarding being dispatched to the crime scene. "We received a 911 call from Mr. Sanders, stated that he was attempted — he was robbed at gunpoint at his residence at 614 North Morgan." T. 81. Police Chief Jimmy Taylor also testified that he responded to the attempted armed robbery which occurred at Sanders' residence at 614 North Morgan Street. T. 92. Although neither Officers Robinson nor Taylor explicitly stated that 614 North Morgan Street was in Washington County, that fact had already been established by Sanders.

Clearly, the State presented sufficient evidence to lead a reasonable trier of fact to conclude that the attempted armed robbery in question occurred in Washington County, Mississippi.

II. NO REVERSIBLE ERROR OCCURRED BY READING INSTRUCTION D-7 OUT OF SEQUENCE TO THE JURY.

During the jury instruction conference, Grisby's counsel submitted only one instruction, an alibi instruction, on his client's behalf. T. 333-335. When Pam's instructions were brought before the court for consideration, Grisby's counsel made the following request, "Any place where it draws attention to the name 'Joby Pam,' I would ask the Court to consider 'Ellis Grisby.' So, I ask if you will refuse that one from Mr. Walls and then address that as far as Mr. Grisby as well." T. 438. The court replied, "But, you know, you are suppose to file jury instructions, your own jury instructions, but I will consider that." T. 439. During the discussion of instruction D-7, an identification instruction submitted by Pam, defense counsel for Grisby offered no input. T. 443. The trial court then stated that it would add a sentence to the end of Pam's instruction regarding Grisby. T. 444. Defense counsel for Grisby still offered no input. The trial court, counsel for Pam, and the State further discussed an amendment to Pam's D-7 instruction. T. 444-445. At the conclusion of the discussion, defense counsel for Grisby asked the trial court, "Judge, how are you going to address

Mr. Grisby." T. 446. The trial court then read aloud its proposal to include Grisby in Pam's instruction as follows.

The same issues of identity as explained above relate to your consideration of whether Ellis Grisby was the person who committed the crime charged. Should you have a reasonable doubt as to the Ellis Grisby's identity as the person who committed the crime charged, then you must find Ellis Grisby not guilty.

T. 446. Grisby's counsel did not object to the court's modification of Pam's instruction D-7.

At the conclusion of the jury instruction conference, the jury was recalled and the trial court read the instructions to the jury. T. 448. After closing arguments however, counsel for Pam informed the court that in reading the instructions to the jury, the court did not read instruction D-7. T. 483. The jury, which had just left the court room for deliberations, was recalled, and the court read instruction D-7 aloud.¹

Grisby's complaint on appeal regarding instruction D-7 is two-fold. First, he claims that the instruction only mentions him as an afterthought and effectively amounted to an instruction for a directed verdict against Pam, thereby shifting the focus of the jury's attention to Grisby. Grisby also claims that the trial court's reading of instruction D-7 out of sequence was reversible error. It appears that Grisby argues that the combination of these errors amounted to an impermissible comment on the evidence by the trial court.

Regarding Grisby's first contention, he is procedurally barred from challenging the content of instruction D-7 for the first time on appeal. Grisby offered no input whatsoever during the discussion of instruction D-7 which was offered by his co-defendant. After the trial court offered to include Grisby in the identification instruction and read its proposal to do so aloud, Grisby's

¹The record shows that the jury retired to deliberate at 12:25. T. 482. After the court recalled the jury and read instruction D-7 aloud, it was only 12:30 when the jury returned to deliberations. T. 483.

counsel did not object or give any input as how to include his client in instruction D-7. "Failure to make a contemporaneous objection and allow the trial court opportunity to cure the defect is a procedural bar and constitutes a waiver of the argument on appeal." *Baker v. State*, 930 So.2d 399, 412-13 (¶30) (Miss. Ct. App. 2005). Because Grisby failed to object to the adequacy of instruction D-7 at trial, he is procedurally barred from arguing its alleged deficiency for the first time on appeal. Alternatively, to the extent that this honorable Court may find that the instruction was jointly offered by Pam and Grisby, it is well-settled that an appellant cannot complain on appeal of an instruction which he requested and which was granted at trial. *Caston v. State*, 823 So.2d 473, 508 (¶121) (Miss. 2002). Additionally, no reasonable reading of the instruction in question lends itself to an interpretation of D-7 as a directed verdict as to co-defendant Pam.

Regarding Grisby's claim that it was reversible error for the trial court to read the instruction out of sequence, Grisby cites several cases which discuss improper comments on the evidence, but fails to provide an analysis which shows how reading instruction D-7 out of sequence could possibly be a comment on the evidence. Mississippi Code Annotated § 99-17-35 proscribes trial courts from summing up or commenting on the evidence and giving instructions which single out or give undue prominence to certain evidence. Cases which address instructions which amount to an improper comment on the evidence deal with the substance of the instructions. Grisby has not cited, nor has the appellee found, a single case which suggests that reading an instruction out of sequence amounts to a comment on the evidence. The failure to cited legal authority in support of a claim on appeal eliminates this Court's obligation to consider the issue. *Glasper v. State*, 914 So.2d 708, 726 (¶40) (Miss. 2005); *Jones v. State*, 740 So.2d 904, 911 (¶22)(Miss. 1999). The trial court's mistake in

²To the extent that Grisby argues that the substance of instruction D-7 was an improper comment on the evidence, such a claim is procedurally barred for the reasons stated above.

not reading instruction D-7 to the jury until after closing arguments if error is harmless at best. A criminal defendant is "entitled to a fair trial but not a perfect one, for there are no perfect trials." *Lynch v. State*, 24 So.3d 1043, 1048 (¶19) (Miss. Ct. App. 2010) (quoting *Brown v. U.S.*, 411 U.S. 223, 231-32 (1973)).

Grisby does cite one case which states, "[T]he correct practice, under our system, is for the court to pass on all instructions asked on both sides before the argument to the jury begins." *Montgomery v. State*, 85 Miss. 330, 37 So. 835 (Miss. 1905). The *Montgomery* holding dealt with the timing of granting instructions, not reading instructions. The holding in *Montgomery* was clarified in a later case. "The rule, therefore, is that there is no error in the granting of proper instructions, either during or after the close of the argument of a case, unless the instructions were granted secretly." *Goss v. State*, 205 Miss. 177, 188, 38 So.2d 700, 702 (Miss. 1949). In *Goss*, the trial court granted two of the State's instructions after the other instructions had already been read to the jury and after commencement of the State's closing argument. *Id.* These two instructions were never read to the jury, and defense counsel had no opportunity to object to them. *Id.* If the supreme court found no error in *Goss*, then surely no error lies in the mere reading out of order an instruction of which all parties were aware and which had already been granted.

For the foregoing reasons, Grisby's second assignment of error must fail.

III. THE STATE PROVIDED LEGALLY SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE TO SUPPORT THE JURY'S VERDICT. THE VERDICT IS NOT AGAINST THE WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE.

In determining whether the State proved each element of the offense beyond a reasonable doubt, all evidence supporting the guilty verdict must be accepted as true. *Wash v. State*, 931 So.2d 672, 673 (¶5) (Miss. Ct. App. 2006). Additionally, the State is given the benefit of all inferences which may reasonably be drawn from the evidence. *Id.*

The following evidence supports the jury's verdict. Jake Winder, Alfred Seals, and Ken Vallery testified that while they were playing football across the street from Sanders' house, Grisby and Pam walked past them and toward an alley near Sanders' house which connected to a field behind Sanders' house. T. 102-103, 127-128, 131, 154, 166. Winder and Seals testified that Grisby was wearing a green t-shirt and Pam was wearing a red t-shirt. T. 110, 128, 134. Vallery remembered that one of the defendants was wearing a green t-shirt and one was wearing a red t-shirt, but could not remember who wore what. T. 156. Although the victim could not see the faces of the men who attempted to rob him, he did testify that one of the attackers wore a green shirt. T. 46. After hearing Sanders' burglar alarm go off and a gunshot, Seals ran toward Sanders' house to see what was going on. T. 133. Seals testified that he then saw Grisby running out of the back door of Sanders' house and through a gate behind the house. T. 134, 144. Although Winder and Vallery did not share Seals' vantage point, when they ran toward Sanders' house after the gunshot, they both heard the fence behind Sanders' rattling and could see people running in the field behind Sanders' house, but could not make them out due to the tall grass obstructing their view. T. 116, 121-122, 170-171. After the police were advised that Grisby had been seen running from Sanders' home, a search warrant was executed on Grisby's home less than two hours after the robbery, and a sweaty green t-shirt was found in a clothes hamper. T. 209, 239, 264. Viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the verdict and considering all reasonable inferences which may be drawn from the evidence, the State presented legally sufficient evidence to support the jury's verdict of guilty of attempted armed robbery.

The heart of Grisby's legal sufficiency argument is that the evidence against he and Pam was essentially the same, yet Pam was found not guilty. The record does not support Grisby's assertion. Although Grisby and Pam were seen together immediately prior to the attempted armed robbery,

only Grisby was seen running from the victim's house. Additionally, all of the boys who saw Grisby and Pam prior to the attempted armed robbery recognized Grisby by sight as he passed and knew his street name, but did not know or recognize Pam at that time. T. 103, 134, 166-167.³ Additionally, the victim testified that one of the perpetrators wore a green shirt, and Winder, Seals, and Vallery testified that Grisby was wearing a green shirt when they saw him. Less than two hours after the attempted armed robbery, a sweaty green shirt was found in Grisby's house. Although the three boys testified that Pam had on a red shirt when they saw him, the victim never gave testimony regarding what the second perpetrator wore. A review of the record shows that the evidence against Pam was not as strong as that against Grisby.

Grisby's conviction must be upheld, because when viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the verdict and considering all reasonable inferences which may be drawn from the evidence, the State presented legally sufficient evidence to support the jury's verdict of guilty of attempted armed robbery.

The verdict is also not against the weight of the evidence. To the extent that any conflicts in witness testimony arose, the jury is solely responsible for settling such conflicts. *Moore v. State*, 969 So.2d 153, 156 (¶11) (Miss. Ct. App. 2007). Further, only the jury is charged with assessing witness credibility. *Id.* It is not the function of the reviewing court to determine whose testimony to believe. *Smith v. State*, 945 So.2d 414, 421 (¶21) (Miss. Ct. App. 2006) (citing *Taylor v. State*, 744 So.2d 306, 312 (¶17) (Miss. Ct. App. 1999). So long as substantial credible evidence supports the jury's verdict, the verdict must be affirmed. *Id.* The jury's verdict is not against the weight of the evidence and represents no unconscionable injustice. It must therefore be affirmed.

³All three did, however, pick Pam from a line-up as the individual seen with Grisby immediately prior to the commission of the crime.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the State asks this honorable Court to affirm Grisby's conviction and sentence.